I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

Petitioners David L. Butler and Elizabeth Butler (collectively the 

"Butlers") and The Robert Larson Automotive Group, Inc. ("Robert 

Larson"), Respondents/Cross-Appellants in the Court of Appeals, seek 

review of the decision identified below. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioners seek review of the unpublished decision terminating 

review entered by Division One of the Court of Appeals on August 18, 

2014, in which the court vacated a judgment on a jury verdict in favor of 

Petitioners on Burien Toyota's Uniform Trade Secrets Act claim. 

Petitioners timely moved for reconsideration and to publish; the Court of 

Appeals denied both motions on September 29,2014. 1 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Burden of Proof for a Trade Secret Misappropriation 

Claim: Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that a plaintiff alleging 

misappropriation of a trade secret and claiming unjust enrichment bears 

only the initial burden of establishing the defendant's sales, as opposed to 

the amount of its damages? This issue warrants review because the Court 

of Appeals' holding improperly dilutes a trade secret plaintiffs burden to 

prove damages. See RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

1 A copy of the decision is attached as Appendix A. All citations are to the Slip 
Opinion version (App. A), which is reported at_ Wn. App. _, 2014 WL 4067876 
(Aug. 18, 20 14 ). Copies of the Order Denying Reconsideration and the Order Denying 
Motion to Publish are attached as Appendices 8 and C, respectively. 
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2. Clear Misstatement of the Law: Did the Court of 

Appeals err in summarily concluding that the trial court's jury instructions 

constituted a clear misstatement of law, therefore entitling the plaintiff to a 

new trial based solely on a presumption of prejudice? This issue warrants 

review because of the need for a standard for determining what constitutes 

a clear misstatement of the law. See RAP 13 .4(b )( 4 ). 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. The Customer List Dispute. 

After a 32-year career as a Nordstrom shoe salesman, David Butler 

went to work selling motor vehicles for, first, Burien Toyota and, later, 

Robert Larson. CP 57, 60 & 64. While at Nordstrom, Butler maintained a 

list of the customers he amassed over the years. CP 59. Butler brought 

his customer list with him when he went to work at Burien Toyota in 

February 2003. CP 62. Burien Toyota put Butler in touch with Sobel and 

Associates, a company Burien Toyota used to manage its own client lists 

and to keep the information on its lists current, and Butler gave his list to 

Sobel. CP 18, 45-4 7. Butler resigned his employment with Burien Toyota 

in March 2011 and took a copy of the list he gave to Sobel with him. CP 

72. Thereafter, he began working for Robert Larson, specifically at 

Larson Toyota; in April 2011, Burien Toyota sent Butler a cease and 

desist letter, claiming that his customer list was actually Burien Toyota's 

trade secret. CP 65-66. 

RESPONDENTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW- 2 

BUTOI8-000I 2647266_3.docx 



B. Proceedings at Trial. 

In April 2011, Burien Toyota sued Butler and Robert Larson, 

alleging causes of action for violation of the Uniform Trade Secrets Act 

("UTSA"), RCW Chapter 19.1 08), breach of contract, unfair competition, 

tortious interference with a business relationship, and breach of the duty of 

loyalty. CP 1-9. Only Burien Toyota's UTSA claim went to the jury. See 

CP 545-69, 906-09. 

Both sides proposed jury instructions on the burden of proof on a 

trade secret misappropriation claim. Petitioners' proposed instruction 

closely tracked the language of the Washington Pattern Instruction 

("WPI"), using the alternative approach appropriate when the plaintiff 

seeks unjust enrichment damages.2 CP 518; WPI 351.01. Burien 

Toyota's proposed instruction contained only a portion of WPI 351.01, 

which Burien combined with a quotation from Petters v. Williamson & 

Assocs., Inc., 151 Wn. App. 154, 210 P.3d 1048 (2009), rev. denied, 168 

Wn.2d 1007 (2010).3 

The trial court was not satisfied with either instruction and also 

questioned whether Burien Toyota's incorporation of language from 

Petters into an instruction was appropriate. RP (1/29113) at 2-4. The trial 

2 Petitioners did not propose an instruction on the burden of proof using the 
alternative approach for when the plaintiff seeks actual damages, given Burien Toyota's 
failure at trial to present evidence of actual damages. RP (1/30/13) at 14. Petitioners 
proposed instructions and WPI 351.0 I are reproduced in Appendices D and E, 
respectively. 

3 ?etters is discussed more fully below. Burien Toyota's proposed instruction, CP 
900-90 I, is reproduced in Appendix F. 
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court was concerned not only because Fetters was factually 

distinguishable from this case, but also because the language Burien 

Toyota wanted to incorporate into a jury instruction was dicta and 

suggested a burden-shifting scheme that would relieve the plaintiff of its 

traditional burden of proving damages in a civil case. RP (1/30/13) at 33. 

The trial court drafted its own instruction, using the WPI as guidance, and 

this instruction became the court's Instruction No. 8, which reads: 

TRADE SECRETS- BURDEN OF PROOF 

On the claim of misappropriated trade secrets, Burien 
Toyota has the burden of proving each of the following 
propositions: 

(1) That Burien Toyota had a trade secret; 

(2) That Mr. Butler and/or Larson Toyota 
misappropriated Burien Toyota's trade secret; and 

(3)(a) That Mr. Butler and/or Larson Toyota['s] 
misappropriation was a proximate cause of damages to Burien 
Toyota (Actual Damages); and/or 

(3 )(b) That, as a result of the misappropriation, Mr. Butler 
and/or Larson Toyota received money or benefits that in justice 
and fairness belong to Burien Toyota (Unjust Enrichment). Under 
(3)(b) (Unjust Enrichment), plaintiff has the initial burden of 
proving damages from sales attributable to the use of a trade secret. 
The burden then shifts [to] Mr. Butler and/or Larson Toyota to 
establish any portion of the sales not attributable to the trade secret 
and any expenses to be deducted in determining net profits. 

If you find from your consideration of all the evidence that 
proposition (1), (2) and either (3)(a) or (3)(b) have been proved, 
then your verdict should be for Burien Toyota. On the other hand, 
if you find that propositions (1) nor (2) nor alternatives (3)(a) or 
(3)(b) have not been proved, your verdict should be for Mr. Butler 
and Larson Toyota. 
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CP 555. The trial court's instruction on damages was Instruction No. 18.4 

After trial, the jury returned a verdict finding that Burien Toyota 

suffered no damage proximately caused by any action of Butler or Robert 

Larson. CP 906-09. Burien Toyota appealed. CP 970-71. 

C. Proceedings on Appeal to the Court of Appeals. 

On appeal, Burien Toyota assigned error to the trial court's giving 

of Instruction No. 8.5 CP 970. The record before the Court of Appeals 

contained a transcript of the proceedings on the proposed jury instructions, 

but no verbatim report of the entire trial proceedings. Instead of providing 

a full record of the trial, Burien Toyota based its right to relief on a claim 

that Instruction No. 8 was a clear misstatement of the law and prejudice 

therefore should be presumed. See Brief of Appellant at 22, citing 

Arifinson v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc., 174 Wn.2d 851, 860, 281 

P .3d 289 (20 12). The Court of Appeals issued its Decision on August 18, 

2014, holding that Instruction No.8 contained a clear misstatement of the 

law and therefore presumptively prejudiced Burien Toyota. See ADA 

Motors, Inc. v. Butler, _ Wn. App. _, 2014 WL 4067876, at *3. 

Specifically, the Court of Appeals held that the trial court's "inclusion of 

the language 'damages from sales' rather than just 'sales' in Instruction 8 

was an incorrect statement of the law[]" under Petters and that 

4 Instruction No. 18, CP 565, is set forth in Appendix G. Burien Toyota's proposed 
damages instruction is at CP 772; Petitioners' proposed damages instruction is at CP 530. 

5 Burien Toyota also assigned as error the trial court's entry of judgment, but that 
assignment of error is subsumed in its assignment of error and argument regarding 
Instruction No. 8. Butler and Robert Larson cross-appealed. CP 1016. No issue raised 
in the cross-appeal is relevant to this petition for review. 
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"Instruction 18 compounds the impact of the misstatement in Instruction 8 

by expressly stating that Burien Toyota has the burden to prove 'damages' 

defined as something more than sales." ADA Motors, 2014 WL 4067876, 

at *3 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals reversed and remanded for 

a trial on the issues of damages and unjust enrichment. !d. at *5. 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

A. The Court of Appeals Misstates the Law Regarding the 
Burden to Show Damages in a Trade Secret Misappropriation 
Case. 

The Court of Appeals' holding on the burden of proof in a trade 

secret misappropriation case misstates the law by relieving the plaintiff of 

the burden a plaintiff in every civil case carries, namely the burden of 

proving damages caused by the defendant's conduct. See Restatement 

(Third) of Unfair Competition, § 45 (1995), cmt. a ("The general rules 

relating to the recovery of compensatory damages in tort actions apply in 

actions for the appropriation of trade secrets."). 

1. The Proper Measure of Damages for an Unjust 
Enrichment Claim in a Trade Secrets Case is the 
Defendant's Profits on Sales Made Possible by the 
Misappropriation. 

Under the UTSA, a plaintiff may recover damages for its actual 

loss caused by the misappropriation and for the unjust enrichment caused 

by the misappropriation that is not taken into account in computing 

damages for actual loss. RCW 19.1 08.030(1 ). The issue before this Court 

involves unjust enrichment damages. Section 45(1) of the Restatement 

(Third) of Unfair Competition provides for the same measure of monetary 
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relief for unjust enrichment damages, holding the defendant liable for its 

"pecuniary gain resulting from the appropriation. "6 A trade secret 

defendant's unjust enrichment "is represented by profits from sales made 

possible by the appropriation." Restatement (Third) of Unfair 

Competition § 45, cmt. c (emphasis added). 7 Similarly, the plaintiffs 

"damages for misappropriation of a trade secret may be measured by the 

amount of profits [] gained by the defendant." Michael A. Rosenhouse, 

Annotation, "Proper Measure and Elements of Damages for 

Misappropriation of Trade Secret," 11 A.L.R.4th 12, § 10 (1982 & Supp. 

2014) (emphasis added). 8 

Comment f to the Restatement provides that restitutionary relief in 

an action for the misappropriation of a trade secret "is an accounting of the 

defendant's profits on sales attributable to the use of the trade secret. ... 

The plaintiff is entitled to recover the defendant's net profits." (emphasis 

added)9
; see also id. at cmt. d (for unjust enrichment damages, the plaintiff 

is entitled to "the defendant's profits earned on sales that are attributable 

to the trade secret.") (emphasis added). 

6 The Restatement (Third) of Unfair Competition § 45 is set forth in Appendix H. 
7 Comment c recognizes that, in some cases, the defendant's enrichment is 

represented by savings achieved through the use of the trade secret in the defendant's 
business. This action does not present such a case. 

8 The comments to WPI 3 51.0 I reference this annotation on the proper measure and 
elements of damages for misappropriation of trade secrets. 

9 As the Reporter's Notes elaborate: "The plaintiff is entitled to the defendant's net 
profits from the sales of goods incorporating the trade secret." Restatement (Third) of 
Unfair Competition § 45, Reporter's Notes on cmt. f, citing Jet Spray Cooler, Inc. v. 
Crampton, 3 77 Mass. !59, 170-71, 3 85 N .E.2d 1349 (1979). 
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Courts, too, have held that the appropriate measure of monetary 

relief when awarding unjust enrichment damages in a trade secret case is 

the defendant's profits on sales made possible by the misappropriation, not 

simply the defendant's sales as the Court of Appeals held in this case. See 

e.g., Siemens Water Technologies Corp. v. Revo Water Sys., LLC, 74 

So. 3d 824, 828 (La. App. 2011) ("One proper measure of damages for 

misappropriation of a trade secret is the profit derived from the 

misappropriation."); Jet Spray Cooler, Inc. v. Crampton, 377 Mass. 159, 

170-71, 385 N.E.2d 1349 (1979) (a plaintiff "may proceed in the 

alternative to determine whether the defendant's wrongful profits exceed 

the plaintiffs losses caused by the misuse of the plaintiffs trade secrets"). 

In other words, sales alone do not represent damages for unjust 

enrichment; profit from sales represents the correct measure of damages. 10 

2. A Plaintiff Seeking Unjust Enrichment Damages for 
Trade Secret Misappropriation Has the Burden of 
Proving the Defendant's Profits on Sales Attributable to 
the Misappropriation. 

A plaintiff seeking damages because of a defendant's alleged 

wrongdoing has the burden of proving the damage it suffered as a result of 

the defendant's conduct. See e.g., Newport Yacht Basin Ass 'n of Condo. 

10 Measuring the restitutionary relief by the defendant's profit on sales, rather than 
just the defendant's sales, makes sense. If, for example, the defendant sold a product 
through use of the misappropriated trade secret, but sold it at cost, then the plaintiff, if 
seeking unjust enrichment (i.e., the defendant's ill-gotten gain), would be entitled to 
nothing. In order for a plaintiff to be "damaged" under an unjust enrichment theory, the 
defendant must have realized a gain. See Weibler v. Universal Technologies, Inc., 29 
Fed. Appx. 551, 555 (I Oth Cir. 2002) (the "lack of profits thus made disgorgement of 
profits an inappropriate measure of damages."). In fact, if a plaintiffproved only "sales," 
the jury would have nothing on which to base a monetary award of damages. 
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Owners v. Supreme Northwest., Inc., 168 Wn. App. 86, 101-02, 285 P.3d 

70 (2012); ESCA Corp. v. KPMG Peat Marwick, 86 Wn. App. 628, 639-

40, 939 P.2d 1228 (1997), aff'd, 135 Wn.2d 820, 959 P.2d 651 (1998). 

This rule is reflected in the Restatement of Unfair Competition: 

The plaintiff bears the burden of proving the fact and cause of any 
loss for which recovery is sought. However, the plaintiff is 
required to prove the amount of such loss only with as much 
certainty as is reasonable under the circumstances. 

Restatement (Third) of Unfair Competition § 45, cmt. b, citing to 

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 912. 11 Accord Frazier v. Bowmar, 42 

Wn.2d 383, 385, 255 P.2d 906 (1953) (adopting the substantially similar 

Restatement of Torts § 912 and holding that the party seeking damages 

bears the burden of proving with reasonable certainty the damages 

resulting from the wrongful act). 

Thus, the plaintiff pursuing unjust enrichment damages bears the 

burden of proving the defendant's profits from sales attributable to the 

misappropriation with as much certainty as is possible. The burden then 

shifts to the defendant to demonstrate any offsetting costs and any portion 

of its profits not attributable to use of the plaintiffs trade secret. The 

11 Restatement (Second) ofTorts § 912 (1979) states: 

One to whom another has tortiously caused harm is entitled to compensatory 
damages for the harm, if, but only if, he establishes by proof the extent of the 
harm and the amount of money representing adequate compensation with as 
much certainty as the nature of the tort and the circumstances permit. 
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ultimate burden of proving damages rests, as it does in all civil cases, on 

the plaintiff. 12 As stated by a leading case: 

Once a plaintiff demonstrates that a defendant made a profit from 
the sale of products produced by improper use of a trade secret, 
the burden shifts to the defendant to demonstrate those costs 
properly to be offset against its profit and the portion of its profit 
attributable to factors other than the trade secret. 

USM Corp. v. Marson Fastener Corp., 392 Mass. 334, 338, 467 N.E.2d 

1271 (1984) (emphasis added). 13 

The court in Jet Spray Cooler likewise held that the plaintiffs 

burden is to prove "that the defendants have made profits from sales of 

products incorporating the misappropriated trade secrets," after which the 

burden shifts to the defendants to prove those profits "not attributable to 

the trade secrets." Jet Spray Cooler, 385 N.E.2d at 1358, n.14. In support 

of its holding, the court relied on the U.S. Supreme Court's holding as to 

the plaintiffs burden of proof in a patent infringement case: "And so, 

having sued for profits, the [plaintiff] was under the burden of showing 

12 A plaintiff's burden to show, with only reasonable certainty, the amount it was 
damaged by defendant's sales is not an unreasonable or unworkable burden should the 
plaintiff conduct discovery on the topic of the defendant's profits. Then the defendant, 
who is presumably in possession of such information, is required "to explain why any 
particular portion of the money that it received as a result of the" misappropriation should 
not be considered an actual loss suffered by the plaintiff. See Petters, 151 Wn. App. at 
165. This burden-shifting approach is not unlike the familiar burden-shifting scheme set 
forth by the U.S. Supreme Court in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792,93 
S. Ct. 1817, 36 L. Ed. 2d 668 (I 973), for use with employment discrimination claims. 
Under that test, the "ultimate burden of persuading the trier of fact that the defendant 
intentionally discriminated against the plaintiff remains at all times with the plaintiff." 
Texas Dep't of Community Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248, 253, 101 S. Ct. 1089, 67 
L. Ed. 207 (I 981 ). 

13 USM Corp. v. Marson Fastener Corp., is cited in the Restatement (Third) of 
Unfair Competition§ 45, Reporter's Notes on cmt. f. 
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they had been made. . . . The defendant then had the right either to 

disprove the plaintiff's case, or to offer evidence in mitigation, or both." 

Westinghouse Elec. & Mfg. Co. v. Wagner Elec. & Mfg. Co., 225 U.S. 

604, 616, 32 S. Ct. 691, 56 L. Ed.l222 (1912) (emphasis added) (cited in 

Jet Spray Cooler, 385 N.E.2d at 1358, n.14). 

In another trade secret misappropriation case in which the plaintiff 

sought unjust enrichment damages, Cartel Asset Mgmt. v. Ocwen Fin 'l 

Corp., 2007 WL 2733725, 249 Fed. Appx. 63 (lOth Cir. 2007), the court 

similarly held that the plaintiff has the burden of proving the defendant's 

profits attributable to the misappropriation, after which the burden shifts to 

the defendant to apportion any profit not attributable to the 

misappropriation. In support of its holding, the court cited, Wynn Oil Co. 

v. American Way Service Corp., 943 F .2d 595 (6th Cir. 1991 ), where the 

court held that the plaintiff has the initial burden of proving "gains to the 

defendant from the infringement" and then the burden shifts to the 

defendant to apportion profits not attributable to the infringement. Cartel 

Asset Mgmt., 249 Fed. Appx. at 78 (citing Wynn Oil, 943 F.2d at 606-07 

and noting, at 79, that the Restatement (Third) of Unfair Competition§ 45, 

cmt. f sets forth a similar burden-shifting scheme). 

Consistent with these well-established principles, the Court of 

Appeals in Fetters recognized that the plaintiff's burden is to prove not 

just sales but '"the defendant's profits on sales attributable to use of the 

trade secret."' 151 Wn. App. at 165, quoting the Restatement of Unfair 

Competition. Fetters held that the plaintiff "met his burden of 
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demonstrating the total value" of the defendant's contract with a third-

party which incorporated a term licensing the misappropriated technology. 

151 Wn. App. at 165 (emphasis added). Fetters further held that the 

plaintiff met his burden of showing the total revenue from the contract in 

which the defendant agreed to license the misappropriated technology, and 

that the defendant in turn demonstrated that no revenue was attributable to 

the license agreement such that the trier of fact was justified in finding no 

unjust enrichment damages from the license agreement. 151 Wn. App. at 

165-67. That understanding is confirmed by the statement in Fetters that 

the defendant had "the burden of demonstrating which portion, if any, of 

the revenue obtained through transfer of the trade secret was not, in fact, 

attributable to the transfer." 151 Wn. App. at 165 (emphasis added). The 

defendant would not have been able to make such a showing if the 

plaintiff had not first made a showing of the defendant's "revenue 

obtained through the transfer of the trade secret," and not merely that the 

defendant had made a sale attributable to the trade secret. 14 

3. The Court of Appeals Misstates the Law. The Trial 
Court's Instruction No. 8 Was a Correct Statement of 
the Law 

The Court of Appeals in this case decided that the plaintiff met its

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