RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Nov 26, 2014, 2:14 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No. 90962-8

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ADA MOTORS, INC., dba BURIEN TOYOTA, a Washington Corporation,

Plaintiff/Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

VS.

DAVID L. BUTLER and ELIZABETH BUTLER, and their marital community, and THE ROBERT LARSON AUTOMOTIVE GROUP, INC., a Washington corporation, dba LARSON TOYOTA.,

Defendants/Respondents/Cross-Appellants.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

INTRODUCTION

David Butler left his employment at Burien Toyota, took its client list, joined Larson Toyota, and contacted every client on that list. In the ensuing 18 months, Butler and Larson Toyota ("Larson Toyota") sold 207 cars to Burien's customers. The jury found that Larson misappropriated Burien's trade secret, but awarded no damages. The only explanation is the erroneous jury instructions.

Under controlling precedent, Burien Toyota had the initial burden to prove sales, after which the burden shifted to Larson Toyota to prove reductions resulting in net profits. But the trial court instructed the jury that Burien had to prove "damages from sales," and defined damages as a net sum, placing both burdens on Burien. In an unpublished decision, the appellate court correctly held that these instructions clearly misstated the law.

Larson Toyota does not address the appellate court's holding, the language of the erroneous instructions, or the considerations governing the acceptance review. It instead argues that Burien had to prove "profits on sales," in issue never raised on appeal.

Larson also asks this Court to expand on **Anfinson** (*infra*), but the appellate court easily and correctly applied **Anfinson**. This Court should deny review.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Larson Toyota neglects to mention that the jury found that Larson Toyota and David Butler misappropriated Burien Toyota's trade secret, a customer list referred to as the "Sobel" list.

Petitioners Larson Toyota and David Butler ("Larson Toyota") begin the Petition with a misleading statement of the case, asserting that Butler generated a list of clients while working at Nordstrom, gave his Nordstrom list to Sobel and Associates, the company Burien Toyota used to manage client lists, and then upon leaving Burien Toyota, took a copy of his Nordstrom list to Larson Toyota. Pet. at 2. This is, at best, an oversimplification of a heavily contested issue.

Burien Toyota contracts with Sobel & Associates to manage its customer databases. CP 46, 571, 576-77, 581. Burien Toyota (not salespeople) provides customer information directly to Sobel. CP 571, 576, 581. Sobel generates and manages a customer list for each Burien Toyota salesperson. *Id*.

Butler went on the Sobel program shortly after joining Burien Toyota. CP 573. As with all salespeople, Burien Toyota gave Sobel customer information, and Sobel produced a customer list for Butler. CP 571, 576-77, 581. This became known as "the Sobel list." *Id*.

Larson Toyota elides the distinctions between the Sobel list and the Nordstrom list. Pet. at 2. Larson also neglects to mention

that the parties heavily disputed whether Butler gave his "Nordstrom list" to Sobel. Pet. at 2. Burien Toyota's customer-service manager, who worked directly with Butler, never saw nor heard of the supposed Nordstrom list, and found no indication that any Nordstrom list was ever put into Burien Toyota's database. CP 576. Burien Toyota's general sales manager unequivocally stated that it is against Burien Toyota's policy to place outside customer information into its database and that the Nordstrom list, if any, was not in the database. CP 570. Burien Toyota's general manager also stated that no Nordstrom list was loaded into Burien Toyota's database and that he would not have allowed Butler to use a customer list he took from Nordstrom. *Id*.

Butler openly acknowledged taking the "Sobel disk" to Burien Toyota's competition, Larson Toyota. CP 619, 625-27. Butler told Larson Toyota's management that he had the Sobel disk, and believes that they knew that he intended to download it. CP 627-28, 629. Butler acknowledged that there were "at least a thousand . . . 500" Burien Toyota customers on the Sobel list and admitted emailing all of them while employed at Larson Toyota. CP 650, 652.

Shortly after Butler left Burien Toyota in March 2011, Burien Toyota began receiving many complaints from unhappy customers

demanding that Butler stop contacting them from Larson Toyota. CP 72, 573. Burien Toyota sent a cease and desist letter on April 4, 2011. CP 65-66, 574.

Per court order, Larson Toyota produced three separate lists of car sales and sales prices, including Butler's sales from March 2011 to November 2012. CP 343, 682, 849; Exs 16, 22, 23. Burien Toyota found 207 sales to Burien Toyota customers, over 10 cars per month, or 1 car every two-to-three days. CP 343, 584, 682, 849.

Unsurprisingly, the jury found, by special verdict, that the Sobel list Butler took from Burien Toyota constituted a trade secret. CP 906. The jury also found that both Butler and Larson Toyota misappropriated that trade secret. CP 907.

B. But the jury awarded no damages, which can only be explained by the erroneous Instructions 8 and 18.

Despite finding a trade secret misappropriation, the jury declined to award any damages, concluding that the misappropriation did not cause financial harm. CP 907. Burien Toyota argued on appeal that this inconsistent verdict could only be explained by errors in jury Instructions 8 and 18. BA 12-22.

The trial court gave Jury Instruction 8, requiring Burien Toyota to prove "damages from sales":

TRADE SECRETS -- BURDEN OF PROOF

On the claim of misappropriated trade secrets, Burien Toyota has the burden of proving each of the following propositions:

- (1) That Burien Toyota had a trade secret;
- (2) That Mr. Butler and/or Larson Toyota misappropriated Burien Toyota's trade secret; and
- (3)(a) That Mr. Butler and/or Larson Toyotas' [sic] misappropriation was a proximate cause of damages to Burien Toyota (Actual Damages);

and/or

(3)(b) That, as a result of the misappropriation, Mr. Butler and/or Larson Toyota received money or benefits that in justice and fairness belong to Burien Toyota (Unjust Enrichment). Under (3)(b) (Unjust Enrichment), plaintiff has the initial burden of proving damages from sales attributable to the use of a trade secret. The burden then shifts to Mr. Butler and/or Larson Toyota to establish any portion of the sales not attributable to the trade secret and any expenses to be deducted in determining net profits.

If you find from your consideration of all the evidence that proposition (1), (2) and either (3)(a) or (3)(b) have been proved, then your verdict should be for Burien Toyota. On the other hand, if you find that propositions (1) nor (2) nor alternatives (3)(a) or (3)(b) have not been proved, your verdict should be for Mr. Butler and Larson Toyota.

CP 555 (emphasis added). The trial court also gave Instruction 18, defining "damages" as "defendant's gain," and as "the amount of money that will reasonably and fairly compensate Burien Toyota," including "past and future lost profits as well as related expenses." CP 565.

Burien Toyota objected to Instruction 8 on the specific ground that it required Burien Toyota to prove not just "sales," but "damages from sales." 1/31 RP 7-8. Burien Toyota argued that by inserting "damages from" before "sales," Instruction 8 impermissibly shifted the burden back to the plaintiff to prove a net sum, rather than "sales." *Id.* This objection was based in large part on *Petters v. Williamson & Assocs., Inc.*, in which the appellate court held that where, as here, a plaintiff seeks restitutionary unjust enrichment damages caused by a trade-secret misappropriation, the plaintiff has the initial burden of establishing the defendant's resulting sales. 151 Wn. App. 154, 164-65, 210 P.3d 1048 (2009), *rev. denied*, 168 Wn.2d 1007 (2010). The burden then shifts to the defendant to prove any sales not attributable to its misappropriation, and reductions to determine net profits. *Petters*, 151 Wn. App. at 164-65.

Burien Toyota also objected to Instruction 18 on the same basis as its objection to Instruction 8: it shifts the burden back to Burien Toyota to prove **damages**, a net sum. 1/31 RP 7-8, 10-11. Burien Toyota proposed alternate instructions on the burden of proof and the measure of damages, and objected to the trial court's refusal to give its proposed instructions. *Id.* at 12; CP 894, 901.

Larson Toyota also objected to Jury Instructions 8 on the ground that it "does not accurately state the law," and to Instruction 18 on the ground that it was "potentially confusing." 1/31 RP 14, 15. The trial court declined to give either party's proposed instructions, drafting its own. *Id.* at 8.

C. Larson Toyota ignores the sole issue on appeal.

Describing the "Proceedings on Appeal," Larson Toyota states that Burien Toyota "assigned error to the trial court's giving of Instruction No. 8" ("damages from sales") and the judgment. Pet. at 5 & n.5. Larson omits that Burien also assigned error to Instruction 18, defining "the measure of damages." This omission is crucial.

Burien's argument has always been that "Instruction 8 misstates the applicable law, and when read in conjunction with damages Instruction 18, misplaces the burden onto Burien Toyota." BA 12. In other words, the error is the inclusion of the phrase "damages from" in Instruction 8, in conjunction with the definition of "damages" in Instruction 18. *Id.* The appellate court correctly held: "inclusion of the language 'damages from sales' rather than just 'sales' in Instruction 8 was an incorrect statement of the law. . . . Instruction 18 compounds the impact of the misstatement in Instruction 8 by expressly stating that Burien Toyota has the burden

to prove 'damages' defined as something more than just sales."

Unpublished Opinion at 5-6. Larson fails to address this issue.

Larson Toyota also faults Burien Toyota for providing only a partial transcript. Pet. at 5, 12 n.14, 16 n.17. Burien raised a single issue on appeal: jury instructions 8 and 18 misstated the applicable law. BA 2. Since Burien argued that the instructions clearly misstated the law, Burien did not need a full transcript to prove prejudice, which is presumed. *Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc.*, 174 Wn.2d 851, 860, 281 P.3d 289 (2012) ("Prejudice is presumed if the instruction contains a clear misstatement of law"). Partial transcripts are permitted, and nothing prevented Larson from moving to compel Burien to provide the entire transcript, or from ordering the transcript itself. RAP 9.5(c).

REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

A. Larson seeks review of an issue never before raised in the trial court or on appeal, fails to address the appellate court's holding in its unpublished decision, and fails to raise any of the considerations governing the acceptance of review.

Larson Toyota argues extensively that plaintiff Burien Toyota must prove "profits on sales" resulting from Larson's trade secret misappropriation. Pet. at 6-15. But at trial, Larson repeatedly argued that Burien Toyota had the burden to prove damages from sales. CP

39-41, 342-44, 540-42, 849-50. Although Larson mentioned "profits on sales," it never proposed a jury instruction placing the burden on Burien to prove "profits on sales." 1/30 RP 17, 39; CP 392, 398, 518, 530.

Nowhere on appeal did Larson Toyota argue that Burien Toyota's burden was to prove "profits on sales." Larson Toyota argued that Instruction 8's "damages from sales" was "fair but inartful wording." BR 18-19.

In short, Larson Toyota seeks "review" of an issue it newly inserts into this case. This Court should deny review.

Larson Toyota barely mentions the appellate court's holding. The appellate court correctly held that where Burien Toyota had the burden to prove sales resulting from the misappropriation, Instructions 8 and 18 erroneously placed the burden on Burien Toyota to prove damages, "something beyond sales." Unpub. Op. at 6. Larson's sole effort to address this holding is a single paragraph claiming that "damages from sales" really just means "the sales attributable to the customer list." Pet. at 14-15. This argument ignores the definition of damages in Instruction 18, and asks this Court to ignore "damages from," which does not appear in **Petters**

or the WPI. CP 555, 565. The appellate court summarily rejected this argument, as should this Court. Unpub. Op. at 6-7.

Finally, Larson Toyota also fails to address – or even mention – any of the considerations governing this Court's acceptance of review. RAP 13.4(b). Larson raises no conflict or constitutional issue, and Burien is aware of none. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (3). Without addressing RAP 13.4(b)(4) – an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should determine – Larson Toyota asks this Court to "expand on its statement in *Anfinson*" addressing what constitutes a "clear misstatement of the law" in jury instructions. Pet. at 17-20. As addressed below, the appellate court correctly applied *Anfinson* without difficulty. This Court should deny review.

- B. The appellate court correctly held, in an unpublished decision, that the jury instructions incorrectly stated the law.
 - 1. A Plaintiff seeking unjust enrichment damages caused by a trade secret misappropriation must initially prove the defendant's sales, after which the burden shifts to the defendant.

The issue on appeal was who bears the burden of proving unjust enrichment damages for a trade-secret misappropriation. BA 2; Unpub. Op. at 3. This was also the issue in *Petters*. 151 Wn. App. at 164-65.

There, the appellate court adopted the RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF UNFAIR COMPETITION, under which the plaintiff has the burden to prove "the defendant's sales," and the defendant has the burden to prove any portion of its sales not attributable to the misappropriation, and any reductions to determine net profits:

The traditional form of restitutionary relief in an action for the appropriation of a trade secret is an accounting of the defendant's profits on sales attributable to the use of the trade secret. ... The plaintiff has the burden of establishing the defendant's sales; the defendant has the burden of establishing any portion of the sales not attributable to the trade secret and any expenses to be deducted in determining net profits.

Id. at 165 (quoting RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF UNFAIR COMPETITION, § 45 cmt. f. at 516-17 (1995)). The **Petters** rationale is as straightforward as it is correct: this "rule . . . widely adopted" in other jurisdictions, properly places the burden on the defendant, who has "possession of the relevant information":

This is a logical and unremarkable formulation of the rule. It places on the party in possession of the relevant information—the defendant—the burden of demonstrating which portion, if any, of the revenue obtained through the transfer of a trade secret was not, in fact, attributable to the transfer. That is, it requires the defendant to explain why any particular portion of the money that it received as a result of the misappropriating transaction should *not* be considered an "actual loss" suffered by the plaintiff under RCW 19.108.030(1). The rule has been widely adopted in jurisdictions applying the model act.

Petters, 151 Wn. App. at 165 (emphasis in original) (citing Vt. Microsystems, Inc. v. Autodesk, Inc., 138 F.3d 449, 450 (2nd Cir. 1998)).

Petters, and the restatement section it adopts, is fairly broken down into three components:

- First, the measure of damages: "The traditional form of restitutionary relief in an action for the appropriation of a trade secret is an accounting of the defendant's profits on sales attributable to the use of the trade secret. ..."
- Second, the plaintiffs' initial burden of proof: "The plaintiff has the burden of establishing the defendant's sales";
- Third, the defendant's burden of proof: "the defendant has the burden of establishing any portion of the sales not attributable to the trade secret and any expenses to be deducted in determining net profits."

151 Wn. App. at 165 (quoting RESTATEMENT (THIRD), supra, § 45 cmt.

f.). Burien Toyota proved to the jury's satisfaction that Larson Toyota misappropriated its trade secret. CP 907. Under *Petters*, Burien Toyota also had the burden to prove that Butler and/or Larson Toyota made sales attributable to their misappropriation. 151 Wn. App. at 164-65. The burden then should have shifted to Larson Toyota to prove what portion of their sales, if any, were not attributable to the Sobel list, and any other reductions to determine "net profits." *Id.* at 164-65.

Focusing exclusively on the measure of damages articulated in *Petters*, Larson argues that the plaintiff alone bears the burden to prove "defendant's profits on sales attributable to the use of the trade secret." Pet. at 11-15. This plainly ignores the burden-shift *Petters* adopts, eliding the distinction between the measure of damages and the burden of proof. It is also at odds with the *Petters* rationale, that the rule – "widely adopted" in other jurisdictions – "places on the party in possession of the relevant information—the defendant—the burden of demonstrating which portion, if any, of the revenue obtained through the transfer of a trade secret was not, in fact, attributable to the transfer." 151 Wn. App. at 165.

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